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The Sisters of St. Paul of Chartres

David E. Gardinier
Josefina Z. Sevilla-Gardinier

-

In 1979 the leading historian of the Catholic Church in the Philip-
pines during the twentieth century, the Rev. John N. Schumacher,
SJ., commented: “One aspect of the history of the Philippine church
which has been badly neglected is the role of religious women” (1979,
344). This article seeks to correct this deficiency in one specific re-
spect by examining the role of the Sisters of Saint Paul of Chartres
(SPC) in the reconstruction of Catholic education during the period
of American occupation of the islands. The SPC were among the
seven European congregations entering the Philippines between 1904
and 1912 at the request of the new American bishops who, together
with the Spanish and Filipino congregations already present, under-
took this work.! By the time of the Japanese invasion of December
1941, the 400 SPC sisters had become the largest feminine congrega-
tion in the country. Two hundred eight-one of the them were work-
ing in education and 119 in nursing. Approximately 90 percent of
the 400 were Filipinas (Directorio Eclesidstico 1942, 176-79).2 In com-
mon with the other congregations, they sought, in particular, to pro-
vide a high quality education for girls and young women, while at
the same time becoming involved in co-education. In order to present
an accurate account of SPC accomplishments, it will be necessary to
make references to the reconstruction of the Catholic Church and its
educational system, the introduction of the new American-derived
public educational system, and the evolution of Philippine society
under American rule and influence.

Crisis in Catholic Education

As a result of the Philippine Revolution against Spain (1896-1898),
of the war between the United States and Spain, and of the American
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occupation, Catholic education was in a severe crisis (Oppenheim
1970, 1-2, 18-19, 156). In 1898 the Philippines contained 5,600,000
Catholics; 900,000 animists, the majority of whom inhabited the
mountains of Luzon; and 300,000 Muslims in Mindanao and smaller
neighboring islands (Middleton 1903, 262-302; Hagspiel 1925, 236~
37; Schumacher 1979, 429 [map)).

The new American regime abolished the public primary schools
of the Spanish period, located in the towns and villages. These
schools had been teaching Christian doctrine and prayers along with
reading, writing, and arithmetic, mainly in indigenous languages to
200,000 children (Alzona 1932, 98, 189-97). The Americans installed
an educational system modeled upon that of Massachusetts with in-
struction given exclusively in English. The teachers, numbering 1,000,
were recruited in the United States. The great majority of them were
active Protestants hostile to the Catholic Church and a Catholicism
influenced by Spanish culture (Gardinier and Sevilla-Gardinier 1989,
42-44; Schumacher 1979, 347-48; Noone 1988, 102-3). Immediately,
these American teachers began to prepare their best pupils to become
their assistants through after-school and summer training courses.
They hoped thereby to extend educational opportunities to the bulk
of Filipino children. The American authorities showed repugnance
towards the retraining of Filipino teachers of the preceding Spanish
regime for the new system (Report 1904, 819-20, 855).

The Americans excluded religious instruction from the programs
of the new public schools and forbade their teachers from volunteering
to instruct the optional courses in religion that churches were au-
thorized to offer. Because the Americans insisted on the use of Eng-
lish in these courses, which were generally scheduled after the end
of the school day for thirty minutes three times weekly, the Church
could not obtain teachers (De La Costa and Schumacher 1985, 43).3

The Church, which from 1903 was directed by four new Ameri-
can bishops, and from 1906 as well by the first Filipino bishop, lacked
the financial resources to support a system of parochial schools.* The
faithful were unaccustomed to giving contributions for instruction
because the Spanish regime had furnished the buildings and paid
the salaries of the teachers. Furthermore, the ravages of the revolu-
tion and the resistance against the American occupation had dimin-
ished the capacity of the Filipinos to pay for education. Only the
schools maintained by the religious congregations, including the sec-
ondary and higher institutions of the country, which had always
counted on tuition fees, possessed the means to continue. But a large
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part of the Spanish priests and nearly all of the sisters who consti-
tuted their personnel had left the country during the revolution and
war. By 1903 some had managed to return or, as in the case of the
Assumptionists, be replaced by English-speaking sisters from France
and Ireland (De La Costa, and Schumacher 1984, 103; Oppenheim
1970, 22; Noone 1988, 39). Thus the 1903 census showed only 23,918
students in 314 Catholic primary schools, 2,242 in ten secondary
schools, and 318 students at the University of Santo Tomas. Collec-
tively these students represented only 7.5 percent of the total
enrollment throughout the Philippines (Oppenheim 1970, 60, 179).

To aggravate the situation, the Church was undergoing a nation-
alist schism called Aglipayanism after the name of its leader, Father
Gregorio Aglipay. At the start in 1902 he had the support of 25 per-
cent of the Filipinos. While only 36 of the 675 Filipino priests joined
this body, the Aglipayans occupied many Catholic churches and
schools (de Achiitegui, and Bernad 1960, 227-55; Schumacher 1979,
328; De La Costa and Schumacher 1985, 4041). The Filipinos who
separated from the Catholic Church became the most promising tar-
gets for the dozens of American Protestant missionaries who entered
the Philippines in the wake of the military.5 These missionaries had
considerable resources at their disposition (Gardinier 1994, 191-203).
American civil servants showed sympathy towards both the
Aglipayans and the Protestant missionaries. They also encouraged
among the Filipino elite a free-masonry that was anti-clerical and
often anti-Catholic (Schumacher 1979, 356; De La Costa and
Schumacher 1984, 103; Sabio 1980, 133-38).

In this situation, the new American bishops who had replaced the
Spanish bishops called upon several congregations from Europe
which had not previously worked in the Philippines (Schumacher
1979, 341-45; Noone 1988, 171-73). The first congregation to arrive
in 1904 was that of the Sisters of St. Paul of Chartres (SPC), which
had already founded schools and hospitals in several countries of
South-east and East Asia (Gobillot 1938, 147-212).

The Missions of the Sisters of St. Paul of Chartres

The Congregation of the Sisters of SPC was founded in 1696 to
aid the French parish clergy in combatting ignorance and poverty
among the poor and unfortunate. Thus the sisters became active as
teachers and nurses. They received only subsistence allowances and
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often they accepted difficult missions, including some already aban-
doned by other congregations. As a result, people called them ‘the
gleaners’ (Verbiese 1929, 1-7; Gobillot 1938, 7-38).

Although the Sisters of SPC had, at the start, no missionary voca-
tion, in 1727 they accepted the invitation of the French government
to work in French Guyana among the indigenous peoples and black
slaves. They educated both girls and boys to whom they taught the
practice of several arts and crafts. They gained their own living by
cultivating the soil and making clothing. Their work in this mission
survived despite the disorders of the French Revolution. During the
Restoration they established posts on the islands of Martinique and
Guadeloupe. Thereafter they went to the Orient, first to Hong Kong
and then to Indochina and other lands of South-east and East Asia.
In their diverse foundations the sisters learned how to cope with the
difficulties of a tropical climate. They succeeded in understanding the
oriental cultures. Those sisters at Hong Kong learned the English
language and some of them could teach it (Gobillot 1938, 73, 95, 101-
212; Verbiese 1929, 33-41; Bord 1975, 19). As a result of the applica-
tion of the French laws of secularization of 1901, the Sisters of SPC
in Indochina lost their jobs in government schools and hospitals in
1904. Thus the congregation had personnel available at the very
moment that the new American bishops were looking for teachers
and nurses (Bord n.d., 113-21; Bord 1975, 16-19).

Education in the First Foundations of the Philippines

The Sisters of SPC accepted invitations from bishops who were able
to provide school facilities and residences. As a result, they located
in three provincial capitals that were important commercial centers:
Dumaguete, a port of 14,000 residents on the island of Negros in the
central portion of the country, in 1904; Vigan, a few miles inland from
the north-west coast of Luzon, in 1905; Tuguegarao, in the Cagayan
River Valley of north central Luzon, in 1907. Dumaguete was a center
in the sugar trade.® Some of its prosperous Spanish and mestizo
hacenderos desired a school with boarding facilities for their daugh-
ters. At the start they were more concerned about preserving a
knowledge of Spanish than in having their daughters learn English.
The bishop, Monsignor Frederick Rooker, hoped that the sisters could
establish a coeducational school for the children of the town which
would compete with the new lay public school and the Silliman In-
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stitute. The latter was a boys’ school founded by American Presby-
terian missionaries in 1901 and already known for the high quality
of its instruction. (Silliman would admit girls beginning in 1912.)
Catholics who were admitted to Silliman were required to study
Protestant doctrine and attend daily chapel services. The sisters es-
tablished a girls’ primary school with boarding facilities. Most of the
girls and some young boys, however, were admitted as day students.
Some of the tuition received was used to give scholarships to needy
children. In addition, the sisters opened a free school for poor girls
and boys. They also offered classes in Christian doctrine to the chil-
dren attending the public schools and to adults and prepared them
for first communion (Villanueva 1973, 17-23, 26-27; Bord 1975, 17~
25; Vaudon 1931, 587-92; Verbiese 1929, 65-66; Cahill 1938, 33-44;
Aldecoa-Rodriguez 1989, 142-43).

At Vigan and Tuguegarao the sisters replaced Dominican Sisters
who had provided primary and some secondary instruction during
the 1890s but were unable to return. These schools received the
daughters of the larger landowners who at Tuguegarao produced
tobacco, and of merchants and professional people, who were able
to pay a tuition. Both schools had boarding facilities, which enabled
the schools to draw pupils from the hinterlands of their respective
provinces as well as from the two towns. Whereas in Vigan English
was the main instructional medium from the start, with Spanish as
a subject, in Tuguegarao Spanish dominated in the early years be-
cause of the preference of the girls’ families. At Tuguegarao a dioc-
esan priest provided sufficient support for the sisters to open a free
primary school for poor girls and boys as well. As in Dumaguete,
the sisters in both towns taught religion to the children attending
the public schools and adults (Bazaco 1953, 331-32; Lazo 1966; The
Echo Supplement 1973, 2-17; Bord 1975, 31-32, 36-38; Verbiese 1929,
67-73; Cahill 1938, 45-53).8

From the start, the sisters of the first three foundations went into
the barrios in order to reach the people who lacked the funds or the
transportation to send their children to the Catholic schools (Vaudon
1931, 592, 601). Sister Albine du Sacré Coeur Garcia told of the diffi-
culties of a trip in a cart drawn by a carabao across the flooded,
muddy fields in order to arrive in the distant barrios of Candon
during the late 1930s to teach the catechism. It was not easy for the
sisters to remain clean or to keep in place the celebrated cornettes of
the congregation. The sisters not only persisted but even found some
vocations in these hamlets.?
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The involvement of the sisters at Manila in running a school re-
sulted from particular circumstances. A score of sisters arrived there
in 1905 to work in a new Catholic hospital in the district of
Intramuros, the old Spanish city (Bord 1975, 27-28; Vaudon 1931, 595-
96). It was some of these same sisters who in 1906 would go to the
island of Culion to serve the leprosarium that the American authori-
ties were relocating there from Manila (Bord 1975, 32-36; Vaudon
1931, 596-99.)

From the start, the Sisters—In majority French but with Belgians,
Irish, Chinese, and other nationalities—sought, by necessity, to recruit
Filipinas as assistants.” The Spanish sisters had admitted mestizas
(Spanish-Filipino) to their congregations more often than Filipinas.
For example, the Daughters of Charity of Saint-Vincent de Paul who
had arrived in 1862, in 1898, had 184 sisters: 147 Spanish, twenty-
two mestizas, fourteen Filipinas, and one Portuguese (Middleton 1903,
302). Filipino families were pleased to have the opportunity to en-
trust their daughters to a European congregation devoted to teach-
ing and nursing.

At the start, the foundations themselves formed their own nov-
ices. But in 1910 there were enough of them to establish a novitiate
in Manila (The Echo 1973, 4~13). Some Spanish-speaking middle class
Filipino families of the district of Malate, where in 1911 the noviti-
ate was installed in a new building, requested religious instruction
for their children. From these classes, which first opened in 1912 as
a kindergarten, developed a complete elementary school, the St.
Paul’s Institution for girls. Boys were admitted from the kindergar-
ten through the second grade (St. Paul College, Manila n.d., 1-7).1°
The sisters charged tuition because they bore the entire expense of
constructing and maintaining the school as well as supporting them-
selves. They could concentrate on the education of girls because a
co-educational parochial school was built nearby.!

The American Regime and the Private Schools

During the years in which the SPC sisters were founding their first
four schools, the American regime was beginning to regulate private
education in ways that would have important effects for their work.
Public Act No. 74 (Organic School Law of the Philippines) of 21 Janu-
ary 1901, established a secularized public school system. It did not
interfere, however, with the rights of private education (Albarracin
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1965, 61-64). One of its sections declared: “Nothing in this chapter
shall be construed in any way to forbid, impede, or obstruct the es-
tablishment and maintenance of private schools” (Quoted in
Albarracin 1965, 61).

Though a large majority of Filipinos sent their children to the new
public schools, which charged no tuition at the primary level, a size-
able minority, especially those who could afford to do so, sent their
children to private schools. The 1903 Census showed that 23.5 per-
cent of primary students and 66 percent of secondary students were
attending private schools. 17.5 percent of all private primary and
secondary students were enrolled in non-sectarian schools and 7.4
percent in Catholic schools.'? Private schools not affiliated with the
Church represented in most cases and in varying degrees a defense
of Filipino, Spanish, and Catholic values (Gardinier and Sevilla-
Gardinier 1989, 42-50). Commenting on this matter, M.V. de los
Santos in 1937 observed: “These private schools served at the time
as the wall of contention against the danger of the complete Ameri-
canization of the Islands. No one can deny that without these posi-
tive manifestations, the moral, social, and intellectual contextures of
the Filipino would have suffered changes which today would be
greatly deplored.” (Quoted by Hacbang 1939, 98).

As the years passed, the public school authorities became increas-
ingly concerned about the consequences of the lack of a standard
curriculum and the limited amount of instruction in English in many
of these schools. Problems arose, in particular, when students from
private schools sought to transfer to public ones. At another level,
the private schools were not contributing as the Americans wished
to their goal of preparing the Filipinos as citizens in a self-govern-
ing democracy (Albarracin 1965, 65, 71).

With these concerns in mind, the government passed Public Act
No. 1459 of 1906, popularly known as the Corporation Act. It pro-
vided that a school, along with other establishments, could become
incorporated. Only incorporated schools could obtain government
authorization, which meant the right to grant diplomas and certifi-
cates. Recipients of the latter could transfer without loss of credit to
public institutions and compete in civil service examinations. To se-
cure authorization, private schools were required to meet “terms and
conditions” set forth by the Secretary of Public Instruction. These
requirements, as made clear the following year, included adoption
of the structure and content of the public school programs as well
as English as the language of instruction (Albarracin, 71-75).
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In 1907 the Secretary announced a new four-year primary school
curriculum that authorized private schools were also expected to fol-
low. At the same time the private schools could teach additional
subjects and in any language. In 1910 the government created a su-
perintendent of private schools to work with them in obtaining au-
thorization. The first superintendent, Peter O'Reilly, at the time of
his appointment was the only Catholic among the thirty-seven pro-
vincial school superintendents. Under his leadership the private
schools were encouraged to reorganize according to the public school
norms as expeditiously as possible until all four primary grades and
three intermediate grades could receive authorization, now also re-
ferred to as “approval” and “recognition”. As in the public schools,
older students who had received the bulk of their instruction in Span-
ish continued to be taught mainly in that language but also studied
English. However, texts approved for government schools were trans-
lated into Spanish so that these students could have the same course
content (O'Reilly 1911, 7-20; Annual Report 1910, 178-80; Oppenheim
1970, 28-36; Montomal 1939, 67-70; Isidro 1939, 48-49).

In the meantime the Church under its new bishops was reorgan-
izing and beginning the reconstruction of Catholic education. In 1907
the first Provincial Council of Manila, during which parish pastors
were directed to organize schools (for which there were few funds),
Church authorities supported a policy of education in English
(Kloesters 1950, 12). In 1911, the First Synod of the Archdiocese of
Manila encouraged the introduction of the official programs in the
Catholic schools (AAM 1911). The bishops, in particular, well under-
stood that Catholics who had such a formation would have more
influence in the new society that the Americans were creating. They
should have been aware that they were contributing to the Ameri-
canization of their students, given the large amount of American his-
tory, literature, and music in the curriculum and the absence of
Filipino history and culture. Their main concern, however, was the
reconstruction of Catholic education with instruction in doctrine and
morality that the public schools forbade (Oppenheim 1970, 122).

SPC adoption of the public school programs was hastened by the
encouragement of Peter O’'Reilly, who had observed the high qual-
ity of their instruction while he was serving as superintendent in
Vigan. In 1911 the sisters there received government approval and
recognition of their primary and intermediate levels, and in 1915 for
their four-year high school program. Among the requirements for
recognition were a collection of supplementary reading books in each
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classroom during the seven elementary grades, a library of at least
500 books, and laboratory equipment for teaching the natural and
physical sciences at the high school level. Classrooms had to meet
certain standards on space per pupil, ventilation, and lighting. Play-
grounds and equipment for physical education were also required
(Verbiese 1929, 69-74; Oppenheim 1970, 32-33, 96; Catabang 1926,
128-35; O'Reilly 1911, 23).

The sisters at the other three schools also requested approval and
began the processes for meeting the standards. Whereas Tuguegarao
obtained official recognition through the intermediate level in 1913,
Dumaguete was delayed until 1919 because of the need to reduce
the large measure of instruction in Spanish only gradually. In that
same year St. Paul’s, Manila, received recognition for its elementary
programs. Tuguegarao held high school classes from 1911 to 1915
but thereafter discontinued them until 1934 because of insufficient
enrollment. Dumaguete opened high school classes in 1919 and St.
Paul’s, Manila, in 1924. All three high schools subsequently received
government recognition (Cahill 1938, 38-63).

Until 1924 the SPC sisters devoted their energies to consolidation
of their four educational foundations. The outbreak of the First World
War, 1914-1918, hindered communications with the Mother House
in Chartres and prevented sending out any new sisters as additions
and replacements. Since 1911 eight sisters had been staffing St. Paul’s
Hospital at Iloilo on the island of Panay northwest of Negros. At
both hospitals in Iloilo and Manila Filipino assistants received instruc-
tion in nursing. (Bord 1975, 23-25, 35-39).13 The sisters continued to
recruit and form novices and postulants with a majority destined for
teaching. During the years in which the SPC were able to provide
only an elementary education for the Filipino sisters, the latter were
employed as classroom assistants and monitors. Their assistance
sometimes enabled a European sister to instruct more than one class
at a time. After high school instruction was established, the Filipinas
were assigned to teaching in the primary grades.!* Only rarely were
lay women teachers employed (Cahill 1938, 38-59). The additional
staff facilitated the expansion of enrollment in all four schools, as
shown in the following statistics:

Dumaguete  Vigan Tuguegarao Manila Total

1912 127 102 103 — 332
1921 300 425 305 270 1300

(Third annual report 1912, 32; OCD 1921, 682, 696).
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The official elementary programs included music, art, and domestic
sciences, especially sewing, to which subjects the sisters added ad-
vanced instruction and greater specialization. They also taught reli-
gion daily and Spanish.!> Individual instruction in singing, piano and
other instruments, and painting was available.’®

In 1923, a quarter of a century after the imposition of American
rule and almost two decades after the arrival of the first sisters of
SPC, the Philippine congregation had forty-four missionary sisters,
thirty-seven Filipino sisters, twenty-one novices, and twenty-seven
postulants. While a portion of the sisters worked in nursing, the
majority served in education (Bord 1975, 44). The availability of a
growing number of Filipino sisters made it possible to consider the
many requests from bishops and pastors to establish or assume di-
rection of additional schools.

Developments in the Philippines

Before turning to the postwar expansion, it is useful to give at-
tention to changes that were taking place in the Philippines under
the American occupation which helped to shape the contexts within
which Catholic educators carried on their work. First of all, the popu-
lation increased rapidly to 10,314,310 in 1918 and to 16,000,000 in 1939
largely as a result of improved sanitation, health care, and diet that
benefitted all classes though not equally. Thus there were much larger
numbers of children and young people who needed education, in-
cluding religious instruction. Despite the greatly increased popula-
tion, the standard of living rose, in part because of government
policies. Land under cultivation increased from 1,267,000 hectares in
1903 to 4,017,880 in 1935, and to 6,690,539 in 1939. The construction
of irrigation systems that watered 715,000 ha. and mechanization of
some portions of the agricultural sector facilitated the increase in both
food production and export crops such as sugar, coconut, and abaca.
Processing industries and textile factories developed while the min-
ing of gold and other minerals increased. Much greater tax revenues
facilitated expansion and updating of the roads (990 miles of roads
in 1898 and 12,982,120 in 1935), railroads, inter-island shipping, and
telecommunications (Corpuz 1967, 223-27; Abeleda 1988, 113-15;
Agoncillo and Guerrero 1973, 425-29; Zaide 1937, 282-87).

Increased tax revenues also made possible much greater funding
for education. Whereas the Spanish colonial regime had devoted only
four percent of its budget to education between 1881 and 1895, the
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American regime spent an average of 27 percent annually between
1904 and 1938. A rapid expansion of funding took place, in particu-
lar, from 1917 on after Filipinos gained control of both houses of the
legislature. While the instruction in public elementary schools was
always free, tuition continued to be charged at the secondary and
higher levels. Thus private education could compete better financially
with the public high schools that had been organized in the provin-
cial capitals and larger towns under American direction as well as
with the public undergraduate institutions (Doeppers 1984, 62-71).

The growth of the economy and education under American rule
led to greatly increased opportunities for employment in the profes-
sions (including teaching), public service, clerical work, and skilled
manual trades. Doeppers in his study of Manila from 1900 to 1941,
during which time the population of the city quadrupled to 900,000,
found that the percentage of its residents that could be termed mid-
dle class had tripled to eighteen percent (Doeppers 1984, 65-68). Simi-
lar developments took place on a smaller scale in provincial capitals
and commercial centers (Cortes 1990, 104-8). Women came to hold
an increasingly larger percentage of the teaching positions in primary
schools. Women began to enroll in public programs in law, medi-
cine and pharmacy, with the latter on the way to becoming a largely
female profession by 1941. The Filipinization of the bureaucracy af-
ter 1913 and its very rapid growth under Filipino direction after 1917
(from 3,000 in 1903 to 22,000 in 1931) offered opportunities for the
graduates of officially recognized Catholic institutions, including
women, who were eligible to compete for them in the civil service
examinations. Educated women could have a career outside the home
because of the availability of competent help from the rural poor to
do the household chores and look after the children. These helpers
generally worked long hours in return for room and board, cloth-
ing, and a small payment (Doeppers 1984, 62; Ramirez 1936, 15-20).

During the early 1920s, an era of continuing prosperity following
the boom of the World War One years, the Philippine Legislature
commissioned a study of the entire educational system, including
private schools, in order to make improvements and formulate fu-
ture directions. This resulted in the Monroe Commission’s Report of
1925. Among other things the Commission found that since 1900
500,000 children had completed primary education, 160,000 interme-
diate, and 15,000 secondary. But eighty-two percent of those who
entered first grade never went beyond fourth grade (Agoncillo and
Guerrero 1973, 407).
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In 1925 approximately half of all school age children were receiv-
ing at least four years of primary education. Close to nine-tenths of
them were enrolled in the public schools. In the same period half of
the students in secondary and higher education were studying in
Catholic institutions (Oppenheim 1970, 67-82).

By this time the Church had recovered from much of the devas-
tation of the turn of the century. The Archdiocesan Synod of 1925
called for greater efforts to open parish schools wherever possible,
even in the barrios. Several of the synod’s decrees aimed at improved
organization and support for church schools. In addition, renewed
efforts were to be undertaken to provide religious instruction for
those who were not attending Catholic schools. To this end, a com-
mon catechism was prescribed. By this time even more non-sectar-
ian private schools had come into being to meet the increased needs
at the intermediate, secondary, and higher levels. The synod also
reminded clergy of their responsibility to foster vocations to the
priesthood and religious life (AAM 1925, Second Diocesan Synod of
Manila; Schumacher 1979a, 344; Oppenheim 1970, 91).17

As a result of the conditions discussed above, the Catholic leader-
ship’s response to them, and the efforts of clergy and sisters, the late
1920s and 1930s would see the further expansion of the Catholic
schools and greater effortsl to provide religious instruction to Catho-
lic children enrolled in the public schools. Because of the work of
the Catholic schools since 1900, there were much larger numbers of
educated lay people who could aid these efforts. Let us turn to the
role of the SPC Sisters in these developments.

The Expansion of the SPC Schools

In 1924 the sisters organized an elementary school at Aparri, a port
at the mouth of the Cagayan River at the northern most tip of Luzon,
in 1924. The valley of this river is an important agricultural region.
In 1937 they added the secondary level (Bord 1975, 65-66; Verbiese,
76; Cahill, 55-56).18

On the island of Mindanao, in the provincial capital of Surigao,
and at Cantilan, on the coast a bit to the south, the sisters began a
bit different type of educational work. For the first time, they as-
sumed direction of schools where both the elementary and second-
ary levels were coeducational. At Surigao they also founded a
boarding facility for girls. In these two schools, founded by Dutch
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Fathers of the Sacred Heart Congregation, laymen formed an impor-
tant part of the teaching staff. The main purpose of the secondary
level was the formation of elementary teachers for an expanding sys-
tem of parochial schools (Sabio 1980, 181-84; Cahill, 56-59).

In the 1930s the sisters also took charge of some coeducational
parochial schools with only the elementary level along the northwest
coast of Luzon to the south of Vigan—Narvacan, Candon, Santa
Lucia—and at San Miguel in Bulacan Province north of Manila (Bord
1975, 63-66; Cahill, 59-63).1° Thanks to these small schools, there were
some vocations to the priesthood, in particular, a bishop, Monsignor
Edmund Abaya, who came from Candon.” During the 1920s and
1930s, the sisters in the four original foundations constructed new
classrooms as well as some libraries, science laboratories, and domes-
tic science facilities; this permitted an increase in the number of stu-
dents—and eventually the organization of some specialized programs
(St. Paul College, Manila, nd., 2).%

In the meantime, following the Manila Synod of 1925, some bish-
ops undertook programs to increase teaching of the catechism to the
students of the public schools. At Tuguegarao, the Belgian bishop,
Monsignor Constant Jurgens, enlisted the aid of the SPC Sisters at
the Sacred Heart of Jesus Institution in training some of their stu-
dents as catechists. Beginning in 1930 these assistants returned regu-
larly to their home villages in order to teach religion to the public
school students. Jurgens believed that it was necessary to use more
lay people for this task because he could see that there never would
be enough priests and sisters for this important work.22

The much larger numbers of lay people with a good understand-
ing of the faith made possible the organization of effective programs
of Catholic Action from 1925 on. Archbishop Michael O’'Doherty gave
further impetus to this program in 1934 by appointing the future
Rufino Cardinal Santos as Director of Religious Instruction.?® Santos
developed a set of instructional materials for the entire country, les-
son plans, and procedures for dealing with the public school offi-
cials in whose facilities most of the classes were held. The University
of Santo Tomas cooperated by organizing a course during the sum-
mer vacation to train the teachers and supervisors of catechists. At
that moment 93 percent of the pupils of the country at the primary
level were studying in the public schools (Noone 1989, 216, 252-54,
280-81; Corpuz 1967, 227).

The SPC Sisters participated in these programs. In the Malate Dis-
trict of Manila, several sisters were detached from St. Paul’s Institu-
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tion in order to direct this work. Aided by catechists that they pre-
pared among their secondary students, and by young men from the
Catholic high schools, they taught the catechism to 3,000 children
from the public schools after the school day, three times a week, and
after the Sunday masses (AAM 1936; AAM 1937; AAM 1938). The sis-
ters at Dumaguete, Vigan, and Tuguegarao contributed also to this
program of Catholic Action.?¢

A report from the superior at Dumaguete in 1941 provides de-
tails on the program there:

To the work of education {in St. Paul’s Academy] is joined that of
teaching the catechism in the public schools of Dumaguete and the
villages. The sisters share the work with the pupils three times a week
from 1:20 p.m. to 2:00 p.m. On those days, the pupils sacrifice their
siesta. There are thus eight public schools which receive religious in-
struction from seven sisters and 37 pupils, of whom some are former
students and even married. Last year there were 1,860 children cat-
echized; more than 1,130 made their religious duties. To this work is
added that of the evangelization of the villages. In each village per-
sons of good will are assigned to gather together the children in or-
der to teach them the catechism. A sister has the task of touring these
different barrios in order to inspect and to encourage the mistresses
and pupils; she distributes candies and pictures made by the sisters.

During the long vacation which begins the week of Easter, daily
except Saturdays and Sundays more than 400 children receive instruc-
tion and [those] who have not made their first communion come to
prepare under the direction of a Visayan sister aided by the girls of
the province, all former students. These children make their first com-
munion towards May 15th. . . . Every Sunday two sisters go to the
prison in order to prevent, if possible, the influence of the Protestants,
who, six in number, are also offering instruction.”

Not content to teach the catechism to the children of the working
class, the SPC sisters devoted themselves to diverse activities on be-
half of the most deprived. Thus, they founded an orphanage and
small school at San Vicente, on the coast north of Vigan, in the
1930s.26 In the same period, in the District of Singalong of Manila,
the sisters assumed the administrative direction of the parish school
for girls, which enrolled 3,900 pupils. In this district along the shores
of Manila Bay, which was receiving thousands of new, mostly indi-
gent immigrants from the provinces every year, the sisters established
the Patronage of Our Lady of Lourdes, which included a busy, up-
to-date dispensary and social services (Bord 1975, 71-72; Noone 1989,
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216, 313). In addition, in 1936 Sister Marie Damien and Father
Michael McNulty, S.J., founded an elementary school for the children
of the lepers of Culion, who numbered 7,000 by that time (Bord 1975,
97). Finally, the sisters maintained a nursing school—one of the eight
accredited by the government—at the St. Paul Hospital in Iloilo
(Oppenheim 1970, 47). In 1927 the Irish archbishop, Monsignor
Michael J. O'Doherty, had transferred direction of St. Paul Hospital
in Manila to the Maryknoll Sisters.?

During these same decades, the sisters were able to provide higher
education for some of the most talented members of the congrega-
tion. The sisters had refrained from sending any of their high school
graduates to the University of the Philippines, which had opened in
Manila in 1908, because of the same anti-clerical and anti-Catholic
influences present there as in the public schools. Then in 1921, fol-
lowing the American example, the length of the program for the
bachelor’s degree throughout the Philippines was increased from two
to four years (Cahill 1938, 89-91; Oppenheim 1970, 105). But the
Catholic institutions offering the degree still admitted only men.
Thereafter, in 1923 the University of Santo Tomas, which had been
founded in 1611 by Spanish Dominicans, replaced Spanish with Eng-
lish as its medium of instruction. In 1926 it opened a new College
of Education to which women were admitted. By the mid-1930s
twenty sisters (mainly Filipinas) had earned the Bachelor of Science
in Education and eight the Master’s in Education. From 1934 on othcr
sisters enrolled in the normal course given by the American
Maryknoll Sisters in the Manila suburb of Malabon (Alzona 1932,
349-50; Verbiese 1929, 75; Cahill 1938, 54, 89). The graduates of the
US.T., including Filipinas, became secondary school teachers and
school principals. In the late 1930s the schools of Narvacan, Candon,
and Santa Lucia had Filipino superiors (OCD 1941, 704-8).28

Between 1938 and 1941 the foundations at Manila, Tuguegarao,
and Dumaguete organized programs at the post-secondary level in
elementary and secondary education, commercial sciences, home eco-
nomics, and music. In 1941 these programs were enrolling over 100
students and were beginning to produce their first graduates. Once
again, the congregation aimed to prepare Filipino sisters as teachers.
But now it was giving at least equal attention to the education of
lay women (St. Paul College Manila nd., 2).%°

In 1941 the European sisters still directed most of the schools and
taught a majority of the classes at the secondary and higher levels.
The Filipino sisters were teaching all of the classes at the elementary
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level. But by this time the foundations had been laid for a future in
which the Filipinas would be able to replace the Europeans at all
levels.®

Conclusion

During the period of the American occupation, the SPC sisters,
through their schools and their teaching of the catechism, contrib-
uted to the reconstruction of Catholic education in the Philippines.
This education was no longer the system of the Spanish period but
a new system oriented towards American purposes, in particular,
preparation for citizenship in a democracy.® But within the frame-
work of this system, the education given by the sisters contributed
to the creation of a much more numerous and better educated laity
than before, and also to a larger and more efficient group of sisters.32
During the same period Spanish and American Jesuits, German mis-
sionaries of the Divine Word, and Spaniards from the Congregation
of St. Vincent de Paul (called the Patiles by the Filipinos) were work-
ing to create a more numerous and effective group of Filipino priests
(Schumacher 1979, 339, 364; Gardinier 1994, 231-35). Thus the sisters
contributed to a process which, in the following years, produced a
Church directed by Filipinos and supported by active lay people
which would become a vital force in contemporary society. Some of
the consequences which have become apparent in recent decades
include the identification of this Church with the problems of the
masses of poor people, and its role in the overthrow of the dictato-
rial regime of Ferdinand Marcos in February 1986 (Fabros 1988, 1-
28; Abeleda 1988, 183-90).

Through their schools the sisters also educated women for life in
a society that was rapidly evolving under the American regime. The
Americans contributed to an economic and social evolution that per-
mitted a much greater professional mobility for educated women. As
a result of their education with the Sisters of SPC, hundreds of young
women had access to new professional and business careers (Alzona
1939, 282-300; Alzona 1937, 59-66; Ramirez 1936, 15-20; Esperanza
Marie 1949, 73-75).33

The circumstances of the Second World War and independence
in 1946 accelerated the process of Filipinization begun in the 1930s.
Among the Filipino sisters there were university graduates and ex-
perienced school administrators who could assume the positions re-
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linquished by the European sisters.3 When the last few European
sisters left the country in 1972, the Philippine province had 674 Fili-
pino sisters and was operating more than thirty schools. Several of
the Filipino sisters were already serving as missionaries in Indone-
sia, Thailand, and even in northern Michigan, USA (Directory of the
Sisters of SPC 1988, 86).

Notes

1. Among the new congregations that arrived were the Sisters of Saint Paul of Char-
tres from France in 1904; the Benedictine Sisters from Germany in 1906; the Augus-
tinian Missionary Canonesses from Belgium in 1910; the Holy Spirit Sisters from Ger-
many, the Frandiscan Missionaries of Mary from France, and the Good Shepherd Sis-
ters from Ireland in 1912. The Belgian Sisters worked closely with the Scheut Fathers
(CICM) from Belgium and the Holy Spirit Sisters with the Divine Word Fathers (SVD)
from Germany among the animists of northern Luzon. Collectively, the new sisters
were engaged in education, nursing, and social work. Several congregations of Span-
ish sisters, including the Sisters of Charity, Augustinians, and Assumptionists, were
able to resume some of their educational work. The Assumptionists replaced depart-
ing Spanish sisters with Irish and French ones who knew English. Three congrega-
tions of Filipino sisters—Dominicans, Augustinian Recollects, and the Religious of the
Virgin Mary—were able to return to much of their educational work in Manila and
the provinces that their members had begun during the late nineteenth century. See
Schumacher (1979, 345), and Tormo Saenz (1991, 203-16).

2. Cobillot (1938, 225), indicates that in 1936 there were 238 Filipino sisters, 36 for-
eign sisters, and 98 novices and postulants in the Philippine Province. Zaide 1937,
190, lists 1,502 nuns in the Philippines in 1936, of whom 881 were Filipinas. The con-
gregations with the largest numbers of Filipinas were the SPC (298), Daughters of
Charity (230), Religious of the Virgin Mary (182), and Augustinians (68).

3. The Attorney General of the new American regime forbade Filipino teachers in
the public schools from volunteering to teach religion after school and even on Sun-
days in their parishes. Public school teachers in the United States in this era enjoyed
this latter option.

4. The new bishops were: Jeremiah Harty (Manila); Dennis ]. Dougherty (Nueva
Segovia, capital at Vigan); Thomas Hendrick (Cebu); Frederick Rooker (Jaro, capital
at lloilo); Jorge Barlin (Nueva Caceres, capital at Naga City). Monsignor Barlin had
been the administrator of his diocese after the resignation of its last Spanish bishop
in 1903. See Noone (1988, 39).

5. On this point, a Methodist missionary wrote: “Indirectly the Aglipay movement
is of great help to Protestantism . . . by detaching the tens of thousands of members
from a nominal connection with the Church of Rome, and leaving them without posi-
tive instruction in a more excellent way” (Stuntz 1904, 494-95).

6. Archives of the Sisters of St. Paul of Chartres, Philippine Province, in Antipolo
(ASPC). R.G.15.02. Dumaguete. “St. Paul College of Dumaguete,” 1-5.

7. ASPC R.G.1.5.02. Vigan. “History of Vigan”; ASPC R.G.1.5.02. Tuguegarao. “Brief
History of St. Paul College, Tuguegarao, Cagayan,” 1-4.
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8. Interview, St. Paul College, Quezon City, 17 June 1989.

9. Information drawn from ASPC R.G.1.5.02. Dumaguete, Tuguegarao, and St. Paul
College, Manila.

10. Judge Federico (Eric) Moreno, who was one of those boys later, during the
1930s, recalis the excellence of the instruction that he received (Interview, Quezon City,
31 July 1988).

11. Interviews with several sisters in Manila and Quezon City, July-August 1988
and June 1989.

12. Oppenheim (1970, 179), reproduces the following statistics from the Census of
1903:

Enrollments Primary Secondary
Private School (religious) 23,918 2,242
Private School (non-sectarian) 56,405 7,022
Public School 261,615 4,747
341,938 14,091

13. ASPC. R.G.1S.03. St. Paul’s Hospital, lloilo. “50 Golden Years of St. Paul’s
Hospital, lloilo, Philippines, 1911-61,” n.d., 1-7.

14. Interview with Sister Socorro Angela Reyes, Manila, 11 August 1988.

15. According to Mrs. Remedios Balmori Aquino, a student during the 1930s, the
sisters taught French most often to those girls who already knew how to speak Span-
ish (Interview, Quezon City, 31 July 1989.

16. Interviews with several sisters who were pupils in the SPC schools during the
late 1920s and 1930s, Quezon City and Antipolo, July-August 1988 and June 1989.

17. The statistics on the growth of Catholic education reproduced by Oppenheim
1970, 91, from official reports show that parish pastors had already made important
efforts to organize and enlarge parochial schools and the religious orders to expand
secondary and higher education:

Primary Intermediate  Secondary  College Total

1911-12 2,737 1,040 2,009 397 6,183
1915-16 7,579 2,017 1,773 765 12,134
1925-26 33,796 8,387 3,910 1,399 47,492

During the 1930s the growth of private education would be slowed by the effects
of the world depression. Hacbang 1939, 32, reproduces the official statistics for 1937~
38 for all of private education.

Roman Catholic Total Private Education

Primary 34,346 40,076
Intermediate 15,751 19,942
Secondary 12,973 36,637
Collegiate Cultural 1,353 3,039
Technical 5334 16,922
Spedial 247 407
Collegiate na* 2774

70,004 120,052

*For Catholic institutions “collegiate” here refers to undergraduate instruction
other than that offered in the University of Santo Tomas, which had 4,493 stu-
dents in 1938-39 (Isidro and Hernandez 1939, 129).
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18. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. Aparri.

19. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. Narvacan, Candon, Santa Lucia, and San Miguel.

20. Interviews with Sister Esperanza Oben, SPC Vigil House, Quezon City, 17 June
1989, and Sister Albine du S.C. Garcia, St. Paul College, Quezon City, 17 June 1989.
Sister Esperanza Oben, who taught at Candon between 1937 and 1942, and Sister
Margaret de Ocampo, who taught at St. Paul’s Institution, Malate (1931-1935),
Dumaguete (1935-1941), and later at San Miguel and Vigan, had pupils who later
became doctors and lawyers. Among them were a score who later became active in
social programs to aid the poor and unfortunate (Interview with Sister Margaret, SPC
Vigil House, Quezon City, 17 July 1989).

21. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. Tuguegarao, “Références sur la maison de Tuguegarao; Ibid.,
Dumaguete, “Rapport (1937-1941). The limited SPC archival records that survived the
retaking of Manila in February 1945 by American forces provide few details about
the outstanding leaders of the congregation in the Philippines. Among those who could
be identified through the available materials and interviews were three missionary
sisters: Belgian Mother Saint-Xavier Vermeersch who served as provincial from 1923
to 1935, and who spurred and guided the expansion of the interwar period, includ-
ing new assignments, improved facilities, and higher education for the most talented
sisters; Belgian Sister Anna de Jesus Verbiese, who, serving at St. Paul’s Institution,
Malate, worked to raise the level of the instruction during the 1930s and after, in part
through further education for sisters, and to organize the first programs in higher
education; Irish Sister Anne Cahill, who continued and expanded the work of Sister
Anna in the Manila region.

22. ASPC. R.G.1.S.02. Tuguegarao, “Références sur la maison de Tuguegarao”.

23. Concerning the program launched by O'Doherty, Columban Father Martin
Noone commented thus: “Through catechetical instruction, systematically adapted to
the early ‘thirties, he [O’Doherty] gave priority to a sensible understanding of the Faith,
then desperately needed for a two-fold reason; Filipino traditional Catholicism was
largely a matter of usage, little comprehended, especially by the generation of tender
age during the disturbances of the Revolution and furthermore largely neglected by
the consequent shortages, and even apathy of priests, when instruction was most
needed, exposed to the unrelenting pressure of arreligious (sic) government schools”
(Noone 1989, 215-16).

24. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. Dumaguete, “Rapport (1937-1941)”; Ibid, Tuguegarao,
“Références sur la maison de Tuguegarao”.

25. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. Dumaguete, “Rapport (1937-1941)”, 2 (translated by D.
Gardinier).

26. ASPC. R.G.1.5.02. San Vicente, “Rapport (1937-1941).”

27. For example, Sisters Socorro Angela Reyes and Stella de Jesus Villanueva gained
renown for their excellent teaching. Sister Teresita Pacquing became principal at
Tuguegarao in 1936 and Sister Stella de Jesus Villanueva of the high school at Surigao
in 1937. Sister Albine Garcia served as superior of the sisters’ community and school
at Candon (Interviews with several sisters, Manila and Quezon City, July-August 1988
and June 1989; OCD 1941, 687-88, 704-8).

28. ASPC. R.G.15.03. “St. Paul’s Hospital, June 6, 1930,” throws light on the back-
ground of the transfer. Noone (1989, 173), mistakenly places the transfer in the 1930s.

29. ASPC. R.G.15.02. Dumaguete, “St. Paul College of Dumaguete,” 5; Ibid. Tugue-
garao, “Références sur la maison de Tuguegarao.” The Directorio Eclesidstico of 1942
shows that the schools directed by the congregation had 5,422 pupils, who were be-
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ing taught by 262 sisters and 43 lay people. At the college level were 43 students at
Manila, 53 at Tuguegarao, and ten at Dumaguete (OCD 1941, 708). In 1938-1939, The
Training School for Nurses of St. Paul’s Hospital in lloilo had 72 students. In the en-
tire country there were 633 nursing students (Isidro and Hernandez 1939, 132-33).

30. Interviews with several sisters, Quezon City and Antipolo, July-August 1988
and June 1989.

31. While the sisters were sympathetic to the introduction of American democracy,
they were troubled by other American values, including those emanating from Holly-
wood and popular culture. An eloquent criticism of the materialism and lax morals
coming from the United States and having an impact on the attitudes and conduct of
Filipino students is found in Reyes 1935, i-ii, 53.

32. Here are two examples of lay women who received their education with the
sisters. Mrs. Esperanza Uy Que, who was born at Fukien, China, arrived in Manila at
the age of seven. She did both her elementary and secondary studies at the St. Paul’s
Institution. In addition, she became one of the first four graduates at the collegiate
level in commercial sciences in 1941. In the meantime, at the age of 13, she had re-
ceived baptism in the church of Binondo District. Mrs. Que raised a family. At the
same time she worked in the international commercial firm founded by her husband’s
family and participated in programs of social action in the Chinese Catholic commu-
nity. In 1988 she helped to organize a dispensary and a meal program for the poor of
a large Catholic parish, induding the most needy, the squatters.

Miss Carmen Kanapi undertook her elementary and secondary studies with the
sisters at Tuguegarao; she was finishing her senior year at the time the Japanese at-
tacked in December 1941. At the school she belonged to the Crusaders and the Chil-
dren of Mary. Later, during her studies at the University of Santo Tomas, the Univer-
sity of Chicago, and the University of Texas at Austin where she received her Ph.D,,
she participated in Catholic Action programs on behalf of the poor. Upon her return
to the Philippines, she was appointed professor of biology at Santo Tomas where some
years later she became the Dean of Sciences. Despite health problems, Miss Kanapi
continued her involvement in social action programs in her parish during the late
1980s (Interviews, Quezon City and Manila, June 1989)

33. Mother Esperanza Marie 1949, 73-75, presents the statistics for women by oc-
cupation and profession.

34. Interviews with several sisters, Quezon City and Manila, July-August 1988 and
June 1989.

References

Abeleda, Alberto S. 1988. A journey into the past: A history of the Philippines.
Manila: Classroom Publications.

Achiitegui, Pedro S. de, SJ., and Bernad, Miguel A., SJ. 1960. Religious revo-
lution in the Philippines: Life and church of Gregorio Aglipay, 1860~1940. Vol.
I. Manila: Ateneo de Manila University.

Agoncillo, Teodoro A., and Milagros C. Guerrero. 1973. History of the Fili-
pino people. 4th ed. Quezon City: R.P. Garcia.



SISTERS OF ST. PAUL

Albarracin, Narciso B. 1965. The private school laws and a critique of their
implementation. Ph.D. diss., University of Santo Tomas.

Aldecoa-Rodriguez, Caridad. 1989. Negros Oriental from American rule to the
present. Vol. 2, Part 1. The American period. Dumaguete City: Toyota Foun-
dation and Provincial Government of Negros Oriental.

Alzona, Encarnacion. 1932. A history of education in the Philippines, 1565-1930.
Manila: University of the Philippines Press.

. 1937. The Filipino woman, her social, economic, and political status, 1565~

1937. 2d ed. Manila: Benipayo Press.

. 1939. Education of women. In Education in the Philippines, eds.
Antonio [sidro, et al.,, 282-300. Manila: University of the Philippines Press,

Annual report of the Philippine Commission. 1904. Manila: Bureau of Printing.

Archives of the Archdiocese of Manila. (AAM). 1911. First Diocesan Synod of
Manila.

AAM. 1925. Second Diocesan Synod of Manila. 1925. Titulo XV: De Recta
Juventutis Institutione [in Spanish].

AAM. 1936. Report on Religion Instruction, 1935-36.

AAM. 1937. Report of 1937 for Malate Parish, Patrick Kelly [5.S.C.], Pastor.

AAM. 1938. Report of Sister Teresita of St. Paul’s Institution, Malate, for 1938.

Bazaco, Evergisto, O.P. 1953. History of education in the Philippines (Spanish
period, 1565-1898). 2d ed. Manila: University of Santo Tomas Press.

Bord, Marie Paul, S.P.C. 1975. In the Philippines. Rome: Sisters of St. Paul of
Chartres.

——. N.d. Raz de Marée: la congrégation [des soeurs de Saint-Paul de Chartres]
sous les lois de 1881 et 1901 dans la France et ses colonies. Rome: Soeurs de
SPC.

Cahill, Anne Patrice, S.P.C., 1938. A study of the educational ideals and
achievements of the Sisters of Saint Paul of Chartres in the Philippines.
Master’s thesis, University of Santo Tomas.

Catabang, Vincent R. 1926. The development and present status of education in
the Philippine Islands. Boston: Stratford.

Corpuz, Onofre D. 1967. Education and socio-economic change in the Phil-
ippines, 1870s~1960s. Social Sciences and Humanities Review: 193-268.

Cortes, Rosario Mendoza. 1990. Pangasinan, 1901-1986: A political, socioeco-
nomic and cultural history. Quezon City: New Day.

de la Costa, Horacio, S.J., and John N. Schumacher, SJ. 1984. The Filipino
clergy: Historical studies and future perspectives. Manila: Cardinal Bea Insti-
tute for Ecumenical Studies.

——. 1985. Church and state: The Philippine experience. Manila: Cardinal Bea
Institute for Ecumenical Studies.

Directorio eclesidstico de clero secular y regular de Filipinas. 1942, Manila: Catholic
Trade School.

Directory of the Sisters of SPC, Philippine Province. 1988. Antipolo: Sisters of SPC.

465



PHILIPPINE STUDIES

Doeppers, Daniel. 1984. Manila, 1900~1941: Social change in a late colonial me-
tropolis. Quezon City: Ateneo de Manila University Press.

Esperanza Marie, Mother. 1949. Feminine education for the Philippines.
Master’s thesis, University of Santo Tomas.

Fabros, Wilfredo. 1988. The church and its social involvement in the Philippines,
1930-1972. Manila: Ateneo de Manila University Press.

Gardinier, David E. 1994. Les missions protestantes aux Philippines, 1898-
1941. In Amérique Latine et initiatives missionnaires (XVIe-Xxe s.), ed. Claude
Prudhomme. Lyon: CREDIC, 191-203.

Gardinier, David E., and Josefina Z. Sevilla-Gardinier. 1989. Rosa Sevilla de
Alvero and the Instituto de Mujeres of Manila. Philippine Studies 37 (1):
29-51.

Gobillot, René. 1938. Les Soeurs de Saint-Paul de Chartres. 2d ed. Paris: Grasset.

Hacbang, Teresita, O.P. 1939. The state and the private schools in the Phil-
ippines. M.A. thesis, University of Santo Tomas.

Hagspiel, Bruno, S.V.D. 1925. Along the mission trail in the Philippines. Techny,
Illinois: 5.V.D. Mission Press.

Isidro, Antonio. 1939. Education and the state. In Education in the Philippines,
eds. Antonio Isidro et al, 48-60. Manila: University of the Philippines
Press.

Isidro, Antonio, and Jose M. Hernandez. In Education in the Philippines, eds.
Antonio Isidro et al., 125-62. Manila: University of the Philippines.

Kloesters, Gerard, S.V.D. 1950. A study of the parochial schools in the Phil-
ippines. Master’s thesis, University of Santo Tomas.

Lazo, Hermenegildo. 1966. The history of the Catholic schools in the Arch-
diocese of Nueva Segovia. Ph.D. diss., University of Santo Tomas.

Middleton, Thomas C., O.S.A. 1903. Evaluation of Philippine reports. Ameri-
can Ecclesiastical Review 28 (Jan.-June): 262-302.

Motomal, Jose. 1939. Government control of private education. In Education
in the Philippines, eds. Antonio Isidro et al., 67-79. Manila: University of
the Philippines.

Noone, Martin J., 5.5.C. 1988. The cultural conflict: The life and times of Michael
O’Doherty, Archbishop of Manila. Manila: Historical Conservation Society.

Official Catholic Dictionary (OCD). 1921. New York: Kennedy.

OCD. 1941. New York: Kennedy.

O'Reilly, Peter S. 1911. Second annual report on private schools and colleges of
the Philippine Islands for the period ending August 1, 1911. Manila: Bureau
of Printing.

Oppenheim, Ramona Marie, MM. 1970. A study of the revival and growth
of Catholic schools in the Philippines. Master's thesis, Ateneo de Manila
University.

Ramirez, Luis. 1936. The education of women: A comparative socio-economic
study. Master’s thesis, University of Santo Tomas.



SISTERS OF ST. PAUL

Report of the Philippine Commission for 1904: Third annual report of the secretary
of public instruction for the year ending 1904. 1904. Manila: Bureau of Print-
ing.

Reyef, Angela Socorro, S.P.C. 1935. The Filipino high school girl and her
problems. M.A. thesis, University of Santo Tomas.

Sabio, Generoso, M.S.C. 1980. The missionary work of the Missionaries of
the Sacred Heart (MSC) in Surigao from 1908 until 1939. Master’s thesis,
Ateneo de Manila University.

Schumacher, John N., SJ. 1979. Readings in Philippine church history. Manila:
Loyola School of Theology, Ateneo de Manila University Press.

. 1979a, Manila Synodal Tradition. Philippine Studies 27 (2): 285-348.

. 1990, Foreign missionaries and the politico-cultural orientations of
the Roman Catholic Church, 1910-1970. Philippine Studies 38 (2): 151-65.

Stuntz, Homer. 1904. The Philippines and the Far East. Cincinnati, Jennings &
Pye.

St. Paul College, Manila. n.d. Manila: Typescript in the Library of St. Paul
College.

The Echo. 1973. The traveling novitiate. 8, no. 1: 4-13.

The Echo Supplement. 1973, St. Paul College of Nocos Sur 1 (1): 2-17.

Third annual report on private schools and colleges of the Philippine Islands for
the period ending September 1, 1912. Manila: Bureau of Printing,.

Tormo Saenz, Leandro. 1991. La mujer en la misién filipina y sus
dependéncias (siglos XIX y XX). In Femmes en Mission. Lyon: CREDIC:
203216.

Vaudon, Jean. 1931. Histoire générale de la communauté des filles de Saint-Paul

" de Chartres, enseignantes, hospitaliéres, missionnaires. Volume IV: De 1880 a
nos jours. Paris: Pierre Tequi.

Verbiese, Anna de Jesus, S.P.C. 1929. The educational ideals and accomplish-
ments of the Sisters of St. Paul of Chartres. Master’s thesis, University of
Santo Tomas.

Villanueva, Stella de Jesus, S.P.C. 1973. The mustard seed became a big tree.
The Echo (Antipolo) 8 (2): 17-27.

Zaide, Gregorio F. 1937. Catholicism in the Philippines. Manila: University of
Santo Tomas Press.

467



	art1.pdf
	47-4-02.pdf

